IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Bryce Huber, through attorney Suzanne Lee Elliott, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Huber seeks review of the unpublished opinion filed in *State v. Huber*, No. 67776-4-I consolidated with No. 69299-2-I. *See* Exhibit 1.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals opinion in this case conflict with this Court's opinion in *State v. Grier*¹ and the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Strickland v. Washington*², when the defendant asked for lesser-included offense instructions, the prosecutor agreed such instructions were merited but defense counsel refused to propose the proper lesser-included offense instructions because he misunderstood the law? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 2. Where Huber filed a declaration in support of his CrR 7.8 motion and stated that his counsel slept during portions of the trial, and that

¹ State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

² Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, reh'g denied, 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984).

declaration was corroborated by a doctor's letter that indicated that trial counsel's ability to work was impaired by his cancer treatment and the medications he was prescribed, does the Court of Appeals opinion affirming Huber's conviction conflict with *United States v. Cronic*³, *Burdine v. Johnson*⁴, and *Tippins v. Walker*⁵? RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. Does the Court of Appeals opinion denying Huber an evidentiary hearing regarding his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is based upon a single 30-year-old Wisconsin appellate court decision, conflict with Washington law and post-conviction procedure?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Bryce Huber and codefendants Brandon Chaney, John Sylve, and Danny O'Neal with premeditated first degree murder with a firearm enhancement, as well as conspiracy to commit first degree murder. The charges stemmed from the February 1, 2009 shooting of Steve Bushaw outside a West Seattle bar. CP 1-24. Sylve and O'Neal eventually pled guilty to lesser charges, and the State dropped the conspiracy charge. CP 63; 4RP 2; 8RP 3-4; 18RP 134-35. Huber and

³ United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984).

⁴ Burdine v. Johnson, 262 F.3d 336 (5th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 1120, 122 S.Ct. 2347, 153 L.Ed.2d 174 (2002).

⁵ Tippins v. Walker, 77 F.3d 682 (2nd Cir. 1996).

Chaney were tried before a jury on the first degree murder charge. CP 63; 16RP 10.

Chaney testified, but Huber did not. 25RP 12. The jury found Huber guilty as charged, but deadlocked as to Chaney, and the court declared a mistrial as to him. CP 101; 28RP 2-12.

The court sentenced Huber to the high end of the standard range plus a 60-month firearm enhancement for a total of 380 months. CP 103-10. He timely appealed. CP 112-13.

A. TRIAL TESTIMONY

As the prosecutor stated in closing argument, there was no question in this case that John Sylve and Danny O'Neal shot and killed Steve Bushaw on February 1, 2009. 8/24/11 RP 25-26. And there was no question that Bryce Huber was present when Bushaw was killed. The real question was whether Bryce Huber premeditated the death of Bushaw.

The State's star witness, John Sylve, admitted that he and Danny O'Neal shot Steve Bushaw on a West Seattle street outside a bar. Beyond that one fact, he lied repeatedly to the police and repeatedly on the stand about the facts surrounding his actions. Sylve testified that the plot to kill Bushaw was hatched at O'Neal's apartment between 10:00 and 11:00 p.m. Huber did not even talk to Bushaw until 10:50 p.m. that night. Even at 11:23 p.m. Bushaw and Huber were not together. But Sylve stated that

they met at a convenience store to finalize plans. Bushaw did not call Huber until 11:30 p.m. Only then did anyone know Bushaw was going to be at the bar.

On January 19, 2009, Sage Mitchell and Brandon Chaney were beaten and robbed in Seattle. 8/23/11 RP 16-18. Sage's friend, Huber was upset about the attack. Stephanie Cossalter said that Huber told her that Bushaw was Mitchell's attacker. She also said that Huber told her that Bushaw "needs to die." 8/17/11 RP 127.

On February 1, 2009, Chaney and Lonshay Hampton went to O'Neal's house to watch the Super Bowl. 8/22/10 RP 25-28. During the party, Mitchell called Chaney and asked him to pick up Sylve at the airport. Hampton and O'Neal rode along. *Id.* at 36. The men went to Chaney's barbershop to wait for Mitchell – who was going to pick up Sylve. *Id.* at 43. When Mitchell arrived, the men decided to go to the Riverside Casino to get a drink. *Id.* at 47.

The men returned to O'Neal's house. *Id.* at 51. According to Chaney, there was no marijuana smoked and no discussion of guns when they returned to O'Neal's apartment. *Id.* at 53-55. Eventually, Mitchell left and the others decided to go get food. They didn't know where to go so Chaney called Huber because Huber had been a club promoter. *Id.* at 55. Huber told Chaney he had two girls with him and they were going to

Talarico's. *Id.* Huber told Chaney that a guy named "Steve" was going to come for drinks and Huber was going to question Steve about the robbery. *Id.* at 59. Chaney gave this information to everyone else in the car. *Id.*

Huber, Chaney and the others drove up to a 7-11 because Chaney had gotten lost. *Id.* at 161. Huber pointed the way to the bar and they drove off and parked nearby. *Id.* at 62. Chaney called his girlfriend while the other men walked towards the bar. *Id.* at 66. While Chaney was still by his car he saw Hampton returning. Hampton told Chaney that someone was shooting. *Id.* at 71. Then Sylve and O'Neal came running back. *Id.* They told Chaney to drive them out of the area. *Id.* Sylve then stated that he "shot the guy." *Id.* When Chaney asked what they meant, they said they shot the guy with Huber. *Id.* at 73.

Chaney said that when the men returned to O'Neal's apartment he was upset and chaos broke out. *Id.* at 75. When Chaney was cursing and talking Sylve told him to shut up. Both men told Chaney they had not hit Bushaw. *Id.* at 81-83. While Chaney and Hampton were upset, Sylve was calm. *Id.* at 87.

Chaney insisted there was never any discussion about assaulting Bushaw that evening. The only discussion was about "questioning" him regarding the assault. *Id.* at 95. According to Chaney, Huber and Sylve were not friends. *Id.*

That day, Bushaw received a call from Huber. He told his parents that he was going to meet Huber for a beer at Talarico's in West Seattle. 8/2/11 RP 1-25. Later that evening he was shot to death in the street outside that bar.

Joy Vanderpool testified that around Christmas in 2008, Huber was upset because a friend of his was hurt or killed. 8/11/11 RP 44. She stated that Huber told her the perpetrator had not been caught. *Id.* She picked Huber up on the street in downtown Seattle in the early morning hours of February 2, 2009. 8/11/11 RP 52. As she drove him home she noticed that he was "stressed." *Id.* Huber wanted to wait outside his apartment for a while because "there were some guys looking for him." *Id.* at 59-60. She stated that he also told her that he and his friends "had taken care of" the person who had injured his best friend by shooting him. *Id.* at 63. She said that Huber said the man did not die. *Id.*

Cara Anderson testified that she was from Idaho and had arrived in Seattle two days before the Super Bowl. She met up with her friend Jen Rasmus. 8/2/11 RP at 33-36. On Super Bowl Sunday, she and Jen met up with Huber. 8/2/11 RP 42. Huber drove the two women in Rasmus's car to Talarico's for the party. Huber made a number of calls on Anderson's phone about meeting up at a bar. A man joined them in the bar and they ordered drinks. 8/2/11 RP 49. More calls were made and then Huber and

the other man got up to go outside to smoke. 8/2/11 RP 50. Shortly thereafter, it became clear that there had been a shooting outside the bar. Anderson and Rasmus took a cab home. 8/2/11 RP 55. Huber introduced Anderson to people at the bar. 8/2/11 RP 98. Nothing seemed sinister to her. 8/2/11 RP 75. Huber left her phone when he went outside. Huber could not see the street from where they were sitting and when he got up to go outside he did not appear rushed. 8/2/11 RP 77.

Cossalter testified that Huber told her he and Bushaw were at Talarico's when a car pulled up. He told Bushaw, "we should leave." As they walked across the street, Bushaw was shot. 8/17/11 RP 129-130.

During trial, Savage engaged in very little cross-examination of any of the witnesses. For example, he had four questions for the State's primary expert on the cell phone records. In closing argument he repeatedly called his client by the victim's name, referring to Huber as Bushaw. 8/24/11 RP 110-112. In addition, Savage questioned the value of closing argument. *Id.* at 110. He stated that the jury was free to review the cell phone records but "that's not where I am coming from." *Id.* at 111. He did concede that Huber was upset that his friend Sage Mitchell had been attacked. *Id.* He also argued that "if you don't believe Mr. Sylve, then you really don't have a case." *Id.* at 114.

The jury convicted Huber as charged but could not reach an agreement as to Chaney. On May 3, 2012, Chaney entered a plea to second degree manslaughter and rendering criminal assistance. He received a sentence of 70 months.

Sylve, the actual shooter, entered a plea to second degree murder with a firearm enhancement. On November 4, 2011, he received a sentence of 180 months in prison.

O'Neal, the other shooter, also entered a plea to second degree murder with a firearm. He received a sentence of 183 months in prison.

B. DISCUSSION OF LESSER OFFENSE INSTRUCTIONS

After the parties rested, they discussed jury instructions. 25RP 182-85; 26RP 43-86. The prosecutor noted that neither Chaney nor Huber had submitted instructions for a lesser offense; the prosecutor asked that both defense counsel confirm that such omission was strategic.

Chaney's counsel, James Roe, confirmed that he and Chaney had discussed the matter and that Chaney did not want lesser degree instructions. 26RP 79.

At first Savage said:

All right, your Honor, I think I've got time to submit the lesser included manslaughter in the second degree instruction tomorrow.

8/23/11 RP 78. The prosecutor stated that he would take exception to a manslaughter instruction but:

I would not except to an instruction on murder in the second degree, and I think the record should be clear that I would not.

Id.

After further discussion with Huber, Savage stated:

Your Honor, on behalf of Mr. Huber, a suggestion has been made as to murder in the second degree and manslaughter in the first degree. Mr. Huber would like me to — murder two and/or manslaughter in the first degree.

My professional judgment is that those – that position – that argument is unmeritorious and frivolous. I certainly don't mean to harm my client, but I don't propose to give lesser instructions on those issues.

If Mr. Huber objects and thinks that I'm not doing the proper job for him, I think that the record is complete that he wishes [m]e to do so.

8/23/11 RP at 83-84.

Savage went so far as to call the instructions "facetious," "unmeritorious," and "frivolous." 26RP 79-80, 83. The court did not instruct the jury on lesser offenses. CP 74-99.

C. MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

Huber filed a motion for new trial and argued that Savage was so ill that he could not function as counsel in this matter and asserted that Savage slept through portion of the trial.

Savage appeared for Huber on February 1, 2012. By that time he knew that he had cancer of the esophagus. By March 29, 2011, his doctor, Daniel R. Markowitz, was advising "to whom it may concern" that Savage was undergoing "aggressive treatment that combines chemotherapy and external beam radiation therapy." Dr. Markowitz said:

Combined modality chemotherapy can be associated with toxicities and may impact Mr. Savage's ability to talk, swallow food, and may result in significant pain requiring temporary use of narcotic analgesia. He will also likely require a supplemental nutrition via a percutaneous feeding tube.

Motion for New Trial, Ex. 1. The doctor concluded by stating that Savage would not be able to "conduct litigation" between "now and at least June, 2011."

The Clerk's minutes indicate that on April 19, 2011, Savage spoke with the trial regarding his medical issues. The trial court then entered an order continuing the trial because of "defense counsel's health."

Trial began on July 18, 2011 and continued until August 24, 2011. Huber was sentenced on September 16, 2012.

On September 22, 2012, Dr. Markowitz wrote that Savage was diagnosed in February 2011 and "despite aggressive treatment for an 80 year old including chemotherapy and radiation therapy, his disease has continued to rapidly progress." Motion for New Trial, Ex. 2. Dr.

Markowitz stated that Savage was required to close his practice because his "medical circumstances do necessitate that he make this decision now for the good of his clients and his profession." *Id.*

Huber states that at points during the trial, Savage was asleep.

Motion for New Trial Exhibit 4. Huber's statement is corroborated by Dr.

Markowitz's letters, which indicate that Savage was not healthy enough to be conducting litigation. In addition, Dr. Markowitz stated that Savage's treatment would likely include narcotic painkillers, which make people sleepy.

Huber also alleged that Savage did not properly investigate the case. He did not interview at least two of the critical witnesses against him.

Huber asked for an evidentiary hearing. But the trial judge entered an order transferring the Motion to the Court of Appeals. That Court consolidated the two proceedings.

On December 23, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the conviction and denying the personal restraint petition.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THE OPINION IN *STRICTLAND V. WASHINGTON* AND *STATE V. GRIER*

1. Savage did not refuse to propose lesser include offense instructions as a matter of strategy. He failed to do so because he simply was wrong on the law.

While it is true that if the prosecution has not proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt, and if no lesser offense instruction is offered, the jury must, in theory, return a verdict of acquittal, in actuality, it is more common that "[w]here one of the elements of the offense charged remains in doubt, but the defendant is plainly guilty of some offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction." *Keeble v. United*States, 412 U.S. 205, 212-13, 93 S.Ct. 1993, 36 L.Ed.2d 844 (1973). It is "precisely because he should not be exposed to the substantial risk that the jury's practice will diverge from theory" that a defendant is entitled to a lesser included offense instruction. *Id*.

The right to a lesser included offense is well established under federal law. "[A] defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense if the evidence would permit a jury rationally to find him guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater." *Keeble*, 412 U.S. 205 at 208; *see also Sansone v. United States*, 380 U.S. 343, 349, 85 S.Ct. 1004, 13 L.Ed.2d 882 (1965); *Berra v. United States*, 351 U.S. 131, 134, 76 S.Ct. 685, 100 L.Ed. 1013 (1956); *Stevenson v. United States*, 162 U.S. 313, 315, 16 S.Ct. 839, 40 L.Ed. 980 (1896).

In Washington, the right to present a lesser included offense instruction to the jury is a statutory right. RCW 10.61.006, .010; *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 805, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). Under Washington's *Workman* test, a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense if two conditions are met. *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). First, "each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged," and second, "the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed." *Id.* at 447-48.

This Court has held that the decision to offer lesser included offense instructions is a decision that requires input from the defendant and counsel, but that ultimately the decision rests with trial counsel. *Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 32. In this case, however, because Savage failed to properly investigate the case and because his judgment was perhaps clouded by his illness, he improperly overruled Huber and failed to propose lesser included offense instructions that even the State agreed were warranted based upon the evidence produced at trial.

The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with *Grier* and *Strickland*, because Savage's decision to forgo proposing lesser included instructions was not the product of a legitimate trial strategy. *State v. Huber*, 2013 WL 6835200 at *4. Instead Savage's stated reasoning was that a lesser

included offense instruction was not permitted under the law. But he was simply wrong on that score. When a lawyer is wrong on the law, he is ineffective.

2. Even if Savage's choice could be deemed "strategic," his strategy was totally unreasonable.

Savage's decision was at odds with his client's stated goal of the litigation. Huber certainly did not endorse an all-or-nothing strategy.

Savage candidly admitted that Huber wanted Savage to propose the lesser included offense instructions. And, even the prosecutor agreed that such an instruction was warranted under the evidence in this case.

In this case there was "no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." *Id.* at 33. There was certainly evidence that Huber knew that participating in a confrontation with Bushaw had substantial risk. Huber knew that Sage Mitchell and Lonshay Hampton were very upset about the robbery. All of the men in his party had been drinking. Thus, Savage was just flat out wrong when he said that lesser included offense instructions were not merited. Huber was entitled to argue that he did not know that Sylve was going to kill Bushaw, but that he ignored the substantial risk that might happen after an evening of drinking and trash-talking with persons who believed Bushaw had robbed them. Huber's position is supported by the evidence introduced at trial by

his co-defendant, Chaney. In addition, Huber's own phone calls support this claim. On August 19, 2011, Huber reiterates to his mother that he wants to testify because there was no "plan" to kill Bushaw.

There is likely no set of circumstances in which a counsel's failure to ask for the lesser included offense instruction would have been reasonable. Huber was at the scene. Bushaw was killed. The only question in this case was who planned the murder and if Huber participated in such a plan.

The Court of Appeals simply images a strategic choice – that

Savage did not want to argue that on the one hand Sylve was lying, and on
the other hand, Huber acted without premeditation. But these two
positions were not mutually exclusive. Sylve was lying and, while Huber
was present, he did not know Sylve had a gun had nothing to do with

Sylve's intention to shoot the victim. Both arguments get to the same
point – Huber had no idea Sylve planned to shoot, much less kill, the
victim.

3. Savage's failure was prejudicial.

The Court of Appeals fails to ask the critical question of the prejudice analysis – which is not whether there was sufficient evidence to convict – but whether it is reasonably likely that the result would have been different if the lesser included instruction had been given to the jury.

The lesser offense rule "affords the jury a less drastic alternative than the choice between conviction of the offense charged and acquittal." *Beck v. Alabama*, 447 U.S. 625, 633, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980). "Where one of the elements of the offense charged remains in doubt, but the defendant is plainly guilty of some offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction." *Keeble*, 412 U.S. at 212-13. This result is avoided when the jury is given the option of finding a defendant guilty of a lesser included offense, thereby giving "the defendant the full benefit of the reasonable-doubt standard." *Beck*, 447 U.S. at 634.

Because Huber was not the shooter and did not participate in any plan to kill Bushaw, but was nonetheless present, there is a reasonable likelihood that Huber would have been convicted of the lesser included offense of manslaughter rather than premeditated murder had the jury been properly instructed.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS WITH UNITED STATES V. CRONIC, BURDINE V. JOHNSON AND TIPPINS V. WALKER

Huber asserts that Savage was sleeping during trial. The letters from Savage's oncologist support that claim. At best, the countervailing evidence is the prosecutor's self-serving statement that he did not observe Savage sleeping.

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