A. AUTHORITY FOR RESTRAINT OF PETITIONER 

Bryce Nathan Huber is restrained pursuant to Judgment and 

Sentence in King County Superior Court No. 09-1-07310-1 SEA. 

CP 103-10. 1

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

denied. 

v. Jury instructions. 

In his motion, Huber suggests that Savage inexcusably neglected to 

ask for a lesser included offense instruction on murder in the second 

degree, noting that the prosecution seemed to invite such an instruction. 

"Where the claim of ineffective assistance is based upon counsel's failure 
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to request a particular jury instruction, the defendant must show he was 

entitled to the instruction, counsel ' s performance was deficient in failing 

to request it, and the failure to request the instruction caused prejudice." 

State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 495, 290 P.3d 996 (2012), review 

denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013). 

Savage did not mince words about his decision not to seek a lesser 

included offense instruction that would have allowed the jury to convict 

Huber for an intentional murder but not a premeditated one: "If the 

State's evidence is correct, I cannot think of anything being more 

premeditated than planning to shoot this fellow in Renton and driving to 

West Seattle to do it. Now, I don't think that defense counsel should 

burden the court with facetious and unmeritorious arguments." 

RP 8/23111 at 79-80. 

What Savage meant by this is obvious. Given the evidence against 

Huber, it would be illogical and counterproductive to claim that Huber 

intended to cause Bushaw's death, but somehow did so without 

premeditation. What facts could support this theory? Huber was either 

guilty or not guilty of premeditated murder, but there was no coherent 

version of the facts under which Huber could be not guilty of premeditated 

murder, but guilty of intentional murder. 
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It was undisputed at trial that Bushaw's murder was premeditated: 

two men who had lingered in the area for a considerable time approached 

Bushaw as he crossed a busy street; both men, without provocation, began 

firing at him. The prosecution's theory was that Huber deliberately 

arranged to lead Bushaw out of Talarico's into the street where he would 

be executed. Huber was either guilty or not guilty of premeditated 

murder, but it would be absurd to claim that he only intended to kill 

Bushaw, but did not premeditate the murder. 9 

Huber asserts in a declaration that not only did Savage not seek a 

lesser included instruction on intentional murder, but "he never explained 

why." Motion, Exhibit 4 (Huber Declaration) at 2. But Huber answers his 

own question: "Our whole defense was that I never intended for anyone 

to kill Bushaw." rd . 

Savage understood that his decision might invite the attention of 

Huber's future attorneys. Savage said, "For Mr. Huber's sake, I'm sure 

that he would like me to submit a lesser included." RP 8123111 at 80. But 

he explained: "I'm thinking that it is unmeritorious and I'm obligated not 

to do that, and if some sharp shooter on appeal, if we get there, wants to 

9 Even Huber himself acknowledges that he could not have intended the crime without 
also premeditating it. In his Declaration, he says he needed to testifY "to establish ... that I 
never premeditated or intended Steve Bushaw's murder." Motion, Exhibit 4 (Huber 
Declaration) at 2. 
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take me to task, why that's been done before too. So I just - there's not a 

lesser included, in my opinion, in this case." RP 8/23111 at 80. 

There is no evidence that indolence or indifference or illness led 

Savage to decline to seek a lesser included offense instruction in this case. 

Rather, the decision was driven by sound trial strategy. 10 

VI. Closing argument. 

Chaney's lawyer gratuitously characterizes Savage's closing 

argument as "appalling." He asserts that he "do[es] not understand why 

Savage never pointed out that his client would never have brought two 

witnesses to a murder." Motion, Exhibit 3 (Roe Declaration) at 11, ~ 39. 

Counsel apparently did not listen very carefully - Savage made exactly the 

argument that counsel now claims was missing: 

Finally, I would ask you to consider this: Mr. Huber is up 
to his eyebrows in this murder plot and, therefore, cleverly, 
he invites two women to come with him, and he takes them 
to the bar where the plot is to ferment, he leads them to a 
table from which he is supposedly making the calls, hey, 
fellows, we're coming out, get ready, he drinks beer with 
them, and he has Mr. Bushaw come and sit down at the 
table with them and introduces him so that the ladies could 

10 Indeed, Savage did not neglect the jury instructions. He made a novel and moving 
effort to persuade the court not to submit the time-honored instruction urging jurors to 
deliberate toward unanimity. RP 8/23/11 at 55-57. Chaney ' s lawyer found this argument 
meritorious enough to join in it. RP 8/23/11 at 67. 
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get a good look at the victim that Mr. Huber intends to lay 
out on the street within the next five or 10 minutes? 

Now, if that makes sense to you, I guess you'll tell me so. 
But in the world, if you're going to do this and you're into 
it are you going to go about creating additional witnesses to 
yourself - against yourself? 

RP 8/24111 119. 

Huber also claims that Savage "questioned the value of closing 

argument," belittled the importance of the cell phone records, and 

"repeatedly called his client by the victim's name." Motion, at 4. 

Chaney's attorney also takes Savage to task for mixing up names. Motion, 

Exhibit 3 (Roe Declaration) at 11, ,-r 40. 

Turning first to the latter issue, Huber implies that making 

mistakes as to the names is evidence of some kind of mental infirmity. If 

so, it was an ailment that was not limited to Savage; indeed, it was the 

prosecuting attorney who first substituted Huber's name for Bushaw's, 

and it was Savage who immediately caught the mistake. RP 7/20111 at 6. 

And when the prosecutor made the same mistake later, it was again 

Savage who quickly corrected him. RP 8/8111 at 60. 
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Ironically, Chaney's attorney, so eager to accuse Savage of this 

error, was guilty of it himself on multiple occasions. For example, in 

cross-examining Bushaw's best friend, Jay Sherwood: 

Roe: When you spoke to Bryce a couple days earlier -
Sherwood: Steve. 
Roe: I'm sorry, Mr. Bushaw. I'll make that mistake many 
times in this trial. 

RP 8/2111 at 28. And during his closing argument, Mr. Roe slipped up 

again: "And from that point on it's 15 minutes before Huber comes 

running back in, shot." [Obviously, counsel was referring to Bushaw, not 

Huber]. RP 8/24111 at 95-96. 

All three attorneys were guilty of this mistake. It would be a harsh 

standard indeed if a slip of the tongue rendered a trial attorney 

constitutionally ineffective. 

Huber also implies that Savage belittled the purpose of closing 

argument. But a review of the context in which the comment was made 

suggests that Savage was doing what all good trial lawyers do: 

acknowledging his bias, and inviting the jurors to reason for themselves. 

RP 8/24111 at 109-10. 

Nor did Savage belittle the importance of the cell phone evidence. 

He acknowledged the significance of it but underscored that it - like the 

- 34 -
1306·23 Huber CO;\ 



travels of Chaney, Sylve, Hampton, and O'Neal before they reached West 

Seattle -- did not answer any fundamental questions about Huber's guilt:11 

You can - and I suspect that you will put in enough 
hours on these phone call records and cell towers and who 
called who and what phone was being used and where it was 
to give you a migraine headache. I'm not trying to 
discourage that, but that's not where I'm coming from. 

You can review, as I suspect you will, the who 
picked up whom at the airport and the - out to the casino 
and the barbershop and O'Neal's and all the rest of it. Well, 
we weren't a part of that and I have no comment on it. 

RP 8/24111 at 111. 

Instead, Savage devoted his efforts in closing argument to the most 

incriminating evidence Huber faced - Huber's angry reaction to the 

robbery at Mitchell's residence, the testimony of John Sylve, and the 

testimony of Stephanie Cossalter. 

About Huber's statements that Bushaw needed to be "taken care 

of," Savage said: 

Well, who of you have not done the same thing? You've 
had a family friend, an acquaintance, a sweetheart, 

II In a telephone call to his father on August 10, 20 II, after hours of testimony about 
telephone records, Huber said: 

Tony told me two things today. He said, in the beginning he said he 
thinks if it ended today we would win. And then Roe .. . he was just 
babbling on and on and on about nothing. About graphs and phones, 
individual calls, just boring the jury to death after the prosecutor had 
already bored them. You know, he bored them for another hour and a 
half. And Tony was like, he was getting real irritated and he told me, 
he wrote me a note and said, "The jury is bored and confused," and 
then ten minutes later, he's like "Arrgh!" 

Appendix I, at 6. 
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somebody who has suffered an injury at some time, and 
you're upset about it and you say so. And you voice your 
opinion on what ought to happen to the dirty, rotten so and 
so that was responsible. We all have done that. We don't 
even have to have suffered that personally. You pick up a 
newspaper, and you see someone where some awful act has 
been perpetrated, and you voice your opinion as to what 
ought to happen to the perpetrators. 

RP 8/24111 at 111-12. 

In closing argument, Savage attacked Cossalter with the evidence 

he had developed during his cross-examination of her: 

She said that she left town on January the 1st, '09, and that 
before she left town Mr. Huber discussed with her in 
person this assault on Mr. Mitchell. Well, we know that 
couldn't have happened. The assault didn't happen until 
January the 19th • He couldn't have been talking about it on 
January the 1 st. 

RP 8/24111 at 1 12 -13. 

Savage also attacked Cossalter's testimony by repeating the details 

of the shooting she claimed to have heard from Huber - details Savage 

had elicited from her on cross-examination. Because the account 

Cossalter claimed Huber had given her was inconsistent with the facts of 

the actual shooting (e.g., Cossalter testified that Huber said he was sitting 

with Bushaw on the patio at Talarico's, but Talarico's has no patio), 

Savage argued that Huber had never made the statements at all. 
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Now, that was her version of what he said, or 
purportedly said. Well, who popped him? Well, I don't 
know. Was it the people at the car? I don't know. Did he 
describe the people in the car? Well, I don't know. 

Is she lying? Is she mistaken? It really, from one 
point of view, doesn't make any difference. The basic 
question before you is is she reliable? Is this the kind of 
evidence or testimony on which you are willing to base a 
verdict beyond a reasonable doubt, sitting on the patio, 
talking about events three weeks before they happened, is 
that a reliable witness on whom you wish to depend? 

RP 8/24111 at 113. 

Savage's approach to Sylve's testimony was two-fold. First, he 

endeavored to persuade the jury that Sylve was the most important witness 

. H b 12 agamst u er: 

Then we get to Mr. Sylve. It seems to me that the 
fundamental bedrock issue in this case, as far as Mr. Huber 
is concerned, is do you believe Mr. Sylve beyond a 
reasonable doubt? 

If you don't believe Mr. Sylve, then you really have 
no case. A verdict of guilty means that each and every 
single one of the 12 of you who render a verdict believes in 
your heart and your mind and your conscience that 
Mr. Sylve is telling the truth, and you don't even have a 
reasonable doubt about it. That's how strongly you believe 
in what he has to say. 

RP 8/24111 at 11 3 -14. 

After telling the jurors they must believe Sylve beyond a 

reasonable doubt to convict Huber, Savage proceeded methodically to 

12 In reality, the most important witness against Huber may have been Huber himself: his 
own statements were perhaps the most incriminating evidence against him. Had Huber 
testified, he would only have made things worse. 
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demonstrate why this was impossible. He began by reminding them of the 

instruction that the testimony of an accomplice could only be considered 

with "great caution." RP 8/24111 at 114; WPIC 6.05. 

Savage emphasized the "deal" Sylve had with the prosecution, and 

noted that Sylve - an intelligent and well-educated man, as Savage had 

established on cross-examination - had access to all of the discovery 

provided by the prosecution before he made his statement implicating 

Huber, and that Sylve had an enormous motive to implicate Huber. 

RP 8/24111 at 114. Savage further noted that Sylve was not going to 

receive the benefit of his "deal" until he testified at trial: 

He has got to testify, oh, quote, truthfully. 
Goodness knows the state of Washington would never 
admit engaging in using untruthful testimony. He's got to 
testify truthfully. 

But as a result of quote, truthful, close quotes 
testimony, he saves himself five years and 10 months in 
prison. Well, let's take a look at this business of truthful 
testimony. The truthful testimony, when he pleads guilty 
and Mr. O'Neal pleads guilty, is that they testify in court 
against Mr. Huber and Mr. Chaney. 

Now, is there anybody in the jury box that really 
thinks that Mr. Sylve would have got his deal ifhe had 
come in here before you and said that I swear to God I'm 
telling the truth and Bryce Huber had nothing to do with it, 
how do you like his deal then? Do you really think that he 
would have got a deal if he said that? Well, of course he 
wouldn't. Part of the deal is that he rope in Mr. Huber and 
Mr. Chaney, otherwise he has no deal. 

RP 8/24111 at 115. 
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Savage went on to pillory Sylve by pointing out that he dealt in 

stolen computers, stole cars, illegally owned a fireann, and, two hours 

after arriving in Seattle, murdered a man who was a complete stranger to 

him: 

The next question is wouldn't Mr. Sylve lie under 
oath in order to help himself? What are you supposed to 
believe? Here's a guy that was stealing cars, stolen 
computers, possession of guns, murdering people, but he 
wouldn't lie under oath? ... He'd lie to anybody at any 
time, at any place, about anything, if it was in his best 
interests. Did he lie? Well, let me hit just the highlights, 
and you'll have the others in your notes. 

RP 8/24111 at 116. 

Savage proceeded to review with the jury the results of his cross-

examination ofSylve. RP 8/24111 at 117-18. He concluded by returning 

to the argument that, unless the jury believed Sylve beyond a reasonable 

doubt, they had to acquit Huber: 

Well, when you get back to citing evidence against 
Mr. Huber, and I'm sure that you will, I would ask you to 
say, all right, who says so? And the answer is always going 
to come back to Mr. Sylve. Who says that Mr. Huber and 
Mr. Bushaw came out of the bar together? Mr. Sylve and 
nobody else. Who says that Mr. Huber and Mr. Bushaw 
went to the car and smoked? Mr. Sylve and nobody else. 
Who says that Mr. Huber and the victim exited the car 
together? Mr. Sylve. Who said the defendant said, make 
sure he's dead? Mr. Sylve. Who said that Mr. Huber was 
ever on California A venue when the shooting occurred? 
Anybody say that except Mr. Sylve? 

RP 8/24111 at 118. 
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Savage concluded his closing argument by returning to a subject he 

had raised in voir dire - the jury's duty to hold the prosecution to its 

burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt: 

What a verdict of not guilty means is, Mr. Baird, 
you're a fine guy, you're a good prosecutor, we've listened 
to the testimony, we've looked at the exhibits, and this 
mess isn't good enough. It just simply doesn't pass muster. 
It's not his fault, it's not Mr. Cooper's fault, but what they 
put in front of you just doesn't get you there. And that's all 
a verdict of not guilty means, it's not good enough. And 
that's precisely what Mr. Huber deserves. 

RP 8/24111 at 120. 

Considered as a whole, as this Court must dO,13 Savage's 

performance on Huber's behalf was highly competent. At a minimum, his 

performance did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. 

Huber's claim should be rejected. 

d. Huber Cannot Show Prejudice. 

Even if Huber could show any deficiency in Savage's 

representation, he has nevertheless failed to show a reasonable probability 

that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been 

different, in light of the overwhelming evidence against him detailed in 

this response. This petition should be denied and dismissed. 

13 McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335 ("Competency of counsel is detennined based upon the 
entire record below."). 
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E. CONCLUSION 

The record in this case demonstrates unequivocally that Anthony 

Savage represented Huber assiduously and with great skill. The jury's 

verdict of guilt cannot be attributed to Savage's performance; it was the 

predictable resul t of the evidence against Huber. Huber has failed to 

support his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. This petition should 

be denied and dismissed.